JAN 20 1998

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

en en grund och hullen en er er Gyv Kanter er gange och sk

HALIFAX HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER, an independent taxing district of the State of Florida,

CASE NO: 92,047

Appellant,

۷.

NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION, a Florida corporation,

Appellee.

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Appeal of a Final Order of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District of Florida Case No. 96-3115

BLACK, CROTTY, SIMS, HUBKA, BURNETT, BIRCH & SAMUELS

Harold C. Hubka, Esquire Post Office Box 265669 Daytona Beach, FL 32126-5669 Florida Bar No: 181314 (904) 253-8195 Attorneys for Appellant, Halifax Hospital Medical Center

GRAY, HARRIS & ROBINSON, P.A.

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Halifax Hospital Medical Center, Appellant, and South East Volusia Hospital District were the co-defendants below and will be referred to herein respectively as "Halifax" and "South East Volusia Hospital." Halifax is an independent special taxing district established by the Florida Legislature to provide hospital and other health care services to Volusia County residents regardless of ability to pay. Ch 79-577, Laws of Florida, as amended. Halifax is governed by a Board of Commissioners, which will be referred to herein as the "Board." Because Halifax is a political subdivision of the State of Florida, the meetings of its Board and the records of such meetings are generally open to the public pursuant to Art. I, § 24(c) of the Florida Constitution. The public's constitutional right to access the Boards' meetings and records is referred to herein as the "public right of access." Appellee, The News-Journal Corporation, was the plaintiff below and will be referred to herein as "News-Journal." News-Journal is a daily newspaper of general circulation in Volusia County, Florida. The Record On Appeal is herein referred to as "R-" and the Appendix to Initial Brief of Appellant is herein referred to as "A-."

vi

STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION

This appeal is from a decision of the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District, which did two things. First, the decision certified the following question to be a "critical issue of statewide concern:"

IS THE EXEMPTION CONTAINED IN § 395.3035(4), FLORIDA STATUTES, UNCONSTITUTIONAL UNDER THE PROVISIONS OF ARTICLE I, § 24(b) OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

Second, the decision affirmed the Final Judgment of the trial court, which declared § 395.3035(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> unconstitutional.

By Order of December 24, 1997, this Court informed the parties that it had postponed its decision on jurisdiction, as if it had been asked simply to consider a question certified by a district court of appeal to be of great public importance. That, however, should not be the case. When the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District affirmed the trial court's Final Judgment, which declared a state statute unconstitutional, it triggered this Court's mandatory appeal jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(1) of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii), Fla. R. App. P. <u>See, e.g., State v.</u> <u>Cohen, 568 So. 2d 49 (Fla. 1990); State v. Jenkins, 469 So. 2d 733 (Fla. 1985); Gardner v. Johnson, 451 So. 2d 477 (Fla. 1984); Dept. of Legal Affairs v. Sanford-Orlando Kennel Club, 434 So. 2d 879 (Fla. 1983).</u>

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

At issue is the constitutionality of § 395.3035(4), Florida Statutes (1995), which exempts from the public right of access those portions of public hospital board meetings at which written strategic plans are discussed or reported on.

In 1992, the Constitution of the State of Florida was amended by adoption of Article I, Section 24(c), which required all meetings of any collegial public body, such as the Halifax Hospital Board, to be open to the public. The amendment, however, permits the Legislature to provide by general law for the exemption of meetings, "provided that such law shall state with specificity the public necessity justifying the exemption and shall be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose of the law."

In 1995, the Florida Legislature enacted Chapter 95-199, Laws of Florida (§§ 395.3035(4) and (5), Florida Statutes), creating exemptions to the public right of access to allow those portions of public hospital board meetings at which written strategic plans are discussed or reported on to be closed and to allow all records generated at such closed meetings to be withheld from public access for up to three years. (Hereinafter, these exemptions will collectively be referred to as the "Exemption."). Although different commentators may use different words, they all describe "strategic planning" as a process whereby a hospital "looks at the health care industry, looks at its local market, determines where it wants to be in that market, identifies the major changes needed to achieve that position, and develops plans to accomplish those changes." R-102. When such plans are committed to writing for adoption by a public hospital's governing board, they become the type of written "strategic plans" the Legislature intended to exempt from the public right of access.

As part of enacting the Exemption, the Legislature found that it was necessary for public hospital governing boards to engage in strategic planning and that they would be unable to effectively compete with private hospitals if meetings in which they discussed their strategic plans were open to the public. The Legislature specifically stated:

> ... it is a public necessity that portions of a public hospital's governing board meetings be closed when confidential contracts, contract negotiations, or strategic plans are discussed. If such meetings are not closed, critical confidential information regarding contracts, contract negotiations, and strategic plans regarding, for example, growth opportunities, would be revealed, making it exceptionally difficult, if not impossible, for a public hospital to effectively compete in the marketplace against private hospitals, whose records and meetings are not required to be open to the public. It is no less a public necessity that any records generated at closed public hospital board meetings, such as tape recordings, notes, and minutes, memorializing the discussions regarding such confidential contracts, documents, and strategic plans, including marketing plans, also be held confidential for a limited time as provided; otherwise, confidential proprietary and trade secret information would become public and impair a public hospital's ability to effectively and efficiently compete in the marketplace.

Ch. 95-199, Laws of Florida.

The need for the Exemption was earlier explained in the Open Government

Sunset Review Act Exemption Analysis by the staff of the Senate Health Care

Committee, as follows:

Public hospitals, unlike most public agencies providing services to the public, must compete directly with their private sector counterparts, private hospitals. Since the economic survival of most Florida public hospitals is dependent upon the ability to obtain revenues from services provided in competition with private hospitals, <u>disclosure of</u> <u>information that may tend to put the public hospital in a</u> <u>disadvantaged competitive position can reduce such</u> revenue, resulting in reduced ability to provide services to indigent populations, or else a need to increase taxes to make up for the lost service revenues.

Early announcements or early access to information about competitive moves by public hospitals could empower their private-sector competitors, assuming the competitors find merit in the activities under consideration to either frustrate, circumvent or accelerate action to exploit the business opportunity the public hospital is exploring. However, in contract, the public hospital and the public at large may not acquire similar information from a private sector hospital unless it chooses to divulge the information.

R-387-388 (emphasis added).

Recognizing that Art. I, § 24(c) of the Florida Constitution required the language

of any exemption to "... be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose

of the law," the Legislature was very precise in limiting the scope of the exemption.

Specifically, Section 395.3035(4), Florida Statutes, provides:

Those portions of a board meeting at which the written strategic plans, including written plans for marketing its services, are discussed or reported on are exempt from the provisions of s. 286.011 and s.s. 24(b). Art I of the State Constitution.

So that the public right of access to public hospital board meetings and records

would be denied as little as practicable, the Legislature incorporated into the Exemption

certain conditions and limitations. For example, the Exemption is limited to "those

portions of a board meeting at which the written strategic plans are discussed or

reported on." § 395.3035(4), Fla. Stat. To discourage public hospital boards from

discussing matters other than their strategic plans during such closed portions of their

meetings, the Legislature required that the time of the commencement and termination of the meeting, all discussions and proceedings taking place at the meeting, the names of all persons present at the meeting and the names of all persons speaking at the meeting must be recorded by a certified court reporter. <u>Id.</u> To assure that board members would not discuss during closed portions of meetings matters other than written strategic plans, the Legislature also required that no portion of the closed meeting be off the record. <u>Id.</u> Further, the Legislature mandated that the court reporter's notes be fully transcribed and maintained within a reasonable time after the closed meeting. <u>Id.</u> Finally, the Legislature required that the full transcript be made available to the public three years after the date of the meeting. <u>Id.</u>

Thus, after making a specific finding that it was a "public necessity" to permit public hospitals to close those portions of their board meetings during which their strategic plans were discussed or reported on, the Legislature limited the Exemption as much as it considered feasible with as many safeguards as possible. In so doing, the Legislature sought to assure that § 395.3035(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, complied with Art. I, § 24(c) of the Florida Constitution, by making the Exemption no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose of the law.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Based on its interpretation of § 395.3035(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> and accompanying documentation as to the legislative intent of that statute, Halifax's Board held several closed meetings to discuss proposed changes to its written strategic plans by which

Halifax and South East Volusia Hospital would be brought together as a multi-hospital health care network. R-33, para. 11. News-Journal demanded access to those meetings and copies of transcripts of the meetings. R-124; R-128. Halifax denied News-Journal's request. R-125; R-129-131.

On September 6, 1996, News-Journal filed suit for declaratory and injunctive relief. In its Complaint, News-Journal alleged that the closed meetings were not confined to discussions of written strategic plans but involved "[b]ilateral negotiations between distinct and independent entities." R-3. News-Journal also challenged the constitutionality of the Exemption created by § 395.035(4), <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>. as overly broad. R-18.

Following a bench trial, the trial court entered a Final Judgment on November 1, 1996. In that judgment, the trial court characterized the Legislature's statement of the public necessity for § 395.3035(4) as seeking to protect only information possessing "extremely important competitive value because it would be so sensitive that it would effectively preclude competition if it were revealed." R-430. The trial court then asked whether the Exemption "would deny public access only to that information which necessarily must be suppressed in order to preserve the ability of a public hospital to compete." R-431 (emphasis added). Having so framed the question, the trial court found that the Exemption was broader than necessary to accomplish what the court had characterized as the stated purpose of § 395.3035(4), Fla. Stat., and was, therefore, a violation of Art. 1, § 24(c) of the Florida Constitution. The court further held that all actions taken or discussed at the closed meetings were void and enjoined Halifax from

implementing its written strategic plans to bring Halifax and South East Volusia Hospital together as a multi-hospital health care system. R-419-436.

Halifax, thereafter, appealed to the District Court of Appeal, Fifth District. On December 14, 1997, the district court affirmed. <u>Halifax Hospital Medical Center v. News-Journal Corp.</u>, 22 F.L.W. D587 (5th DCA, Case No. 96-3115, Nov. 14, 1997). In its opinion, the district court held that § 395.3035(4), <u>Fla. Stat.</u> was unconstitutional because it was broader both in scope and duration than was permissible under the Florida Constitution. Apparently unwilling to accept the common definition used by all parties to the action, the district court also held that, at the very least, the term "strategic plan" must be defined.

The concern for overbreadth cited by the district court results largely from a misunderstanding. For example, as support for its holding the district court expressed the unfounded fear that "[a]Imost any discussion by the Board, whether it relates to director or officer benefits or salaries or severance plans, etc. could affect competition and therefore remain secret for three years if it is a part of a 'strategic plan' or even if it is raised in a meeting at which a strategic plan is discussed or reported on." The mere fact that issues such as officer benefits or salaries "could affect competition" does not, however, mean that issues can be decided behind closed doors. To the contrary, these are budget items regulated pursuant to § 200.065, <u>Fla. Stat.</u>, which requires public hospitals to adopt their budgets at public hearings specially noticed to the public. Furthermore, § 395.3035(4) specifically provides that documents submitted to a public hospital's governing board as part of the budget approval process and the budget itself

are not confidential and not exempt, even if they are part of the hospital's strategic plans.

The district court's finding that there was no justification "for an arbitrary three year duration for the secrecy to continue" is also in part a misunderstanding. In supporting its conclusion that three years is too long, the district court asked why secrecy should continue after a contract is executed. In fact, the confidential exempt status of a contract under § 395.3035(2)(d), Fla. Stat., disappears 30 days before the contract is voted on by the public hospital's governing board, notwithstanding the fact such contract may have been discussed at a governing board meeting involving the hospital's written strategic plan. The district court also overlooked the fact that private entities are routinely permitted to protect the confidentiality of trade secrets under Chapter 542.

Having identified what it perceived to be defects in the statute, the district court proceeded to assert that it "should not be difficult," to save the statute "by 'supplying' an acceptable meaning for 'strategic plan'." The court even indicated it could find that the Legislature intended a strategic plan to be limited to those matters that involve critical confidential information "as indicated by its statement of justification" and that it could "construe the three year limitation as a maximum period of secrecy and find that the legislature intended that the information be immediately released to the public the moment the confidentiality was no longer required." However, having made that statement, the district court refused to apply such a limiting construction and simply affirmed the trial court's decision, thus declaring the statute unconstitutional. Halifax timely appealed to this Court.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

In 1992, the people of the State of Florida voted to add Article I, Section 24 (the "Sunshine Amendment") to the Florida Constitution. In so doing, the people elevated the public right of access to constitutional stature. At the same time, however, the people recognized that under certain circumstances, the public's right of access would so impede essential activities of a public entity as to ultimately disserve the public. Therefore, the Sunshine Amendment also empowered the Legislature to create exemptions to the public right of access subject <u>only</u> to two conditions: that the law creating the exemption state with specificity the public necessity justifying the exemption; and that the exemption be no broader than necessary to achieve the stated purpose of the law.

This Court must now determine what judicial standard of review will be used by Florida courts to decide whether the Legislature, in creating an exemption to the public right of access, has sufficiently met these two conditions. It must be careful to avoid encroaching upon the Legislature's constitutional powers. It must recognize that the excessively narrow judicial standard of review adopted by the trial court and affirmed by the district court violates the separation of powers doctrine articulated in Article II, §3 of the Florida Constitution, because it effectively deprives the Legislature of its constitutional power to exempt public hospitals' written strategic plans and any board discussions thereof from the public right of access.

The public right of access has posed a particular dilemma for Florida's public hospitals, which were established to provide medical care for all people, regardless of their ability to pay. Though public, such hospitals receive most of their revenues, not

from taxes, but from fees paid for services they provide in competition with private hospitals. If public hospitals are to provide care for the needy, they must be able to compete successfully for paying patients. To compete successfully, they must have the same ability to plan and seize business opportunities enjoyed by private hospitals.

Because public hospitals were subject to the public right of access, however, their ability to plan and to seize business opportunities was severely restricted. Whereas private hospitals could confidentially study their local markets and present proposed strategic plans to their governing boards in closed meetings, public hospitals enjoyed no such advantages. Instead, every presentation to their governing boards of a proposed strategic plan or proposed changes to an existing strategic plan had to be conducted, not only openly, but often in the presence of representatives of private hospitals -- who could act quickly to exploit or thwart opportunities the public hospitals had determined to pursue.

To protect their strategic plans from public disclosure, public hospitals began in the early 1990's to seek statutory exemptions from the public right of access that would allow them to close meetings of their governing boards anytime written strategic plans were discussed. They also sought exemptions that would allow them to keep confidential all records generated at such closed meetings. Only by obtaining such exemptions could public hospitals prevent private hospitals from using the public right of access to learn of and then exploit a public hospital's strategic plans.

In 1995, the Legislature determined it was a "public necessity" that public hospital boards to be allowed to discuss their written strategic plans in closed meetings and to keep all records of such meetings confidential. As a result, the Legislature enacted Ch.

95-199, Laws of Florida, codified as § 395.3035(4) and (5) <u>Fla</u>. <u>Stat</u>., which permitted public hospital boards to close those portions of their meetings that involved discussions of their written strategic plans and to keep records of such meetings confidential.

The Exemption was enacted after careful consideration by the Legislature over the course of four years. In enacting the Exemption, the Legislature clearly articulated the necessity for preserving the confidentiality of a public hospital's strategic plans. The Legislature also imposed restraints on how the Exemption could be used so that it would be no broader than necessary to preserve the confidentiality of such plans.

In its decision, the district court did not challenge the specificity of the law enacting the Exemption, only its breadth. In holding that "at the very least the term 'strategic plan' must be defined," the district court ignored the definition used by all parties and refused to define the term itself. In holding that the Exemption was broader in scope than was "permissible," the district court ignored the fact that the Legislature has a specific right under Article I, § 24(c) of the Constitution of Florida to enact a broad exemption so long as the exemption is no broader than necessary to achieve the stated public purpose of the act. The fact that a written strategic plan, by its very nature, may cover a broad range of topics cannot preclude the Legislature from enacting an exemption to protect the confidentiality of such a plan so long as the Legislature states with specificity the necessity for the exemption.

Furthermore, in finding that the three year period of confidentiality was excessive, the district court ignored the fact that three year limitations on the disclosure of trade secrets are universally found reasonable by courts. Finally, just because a court can speculate as to how an exemption may be abused does not justify declaring the

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