ORIGINAL

IN THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

MAR # # 1998

_

| CLERK, | SUPPER | AE COURT |
|--------|-----------|----------|
| Ву | | |
| Chi | of Baputy | Clark |

HALIFAX HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER,

an independent taxing district of the State of Florida

Petitioner,

CASE NO. 92,047

VS.

NEWS-JOURNAL CORPORATION,

a Florida corporation,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

On Appeal from the Fifth District Court of Appeal

Jonathan D. Kaney Jr.
Fla. Bar No. 0115251
Jonathan D. Kaney III
Fla. Bar No. 0023426
COBB COLE & BELL
150 Magnolia Avenue
Post Office Box 2491
Daytona Beach, FL 32115-2491
Telephone: (904) 255-8171
Facsimile: (904) 238-7003

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Sunshine Amendment elevated the traditional right of public access to constitutional stature to guarantee the right against the erosive effect of unjustified exemptions. To enact a valid exemption, the legislature "shall state with specificity the public necessity justifying the exemption and shall [tailor the exemption] no broader than necessary to meet the stated purpose of the law." FLA. CONST., art. I, § 24(c).

The legislature is thus required to follow a standard of constitutional balancing in the inception of exemptions, and the Court is called to enforce this standard by reviewing exemptions for facial compliance. In this case of first impression, the Court should adopt a doctrine of strict construction of the clear textual standard.

The exemption is facially unconstitutional as broader than necessary to meet its stated necessity. The stated public necessity is to protect public hospitals from the competitive harm that results from disclosure of critical confidential information regarding strategic plans, but the exemption allows categorical closure of all discussion of strategic plans. Because it is not tailored to exempt only the harmful discussion of critical confidential information regarding strategic plans, it is unnecessarily broad in scope. Because it arbitrarily suppresses the

records of closed discussions for three years even though any reason for confidentiality may sooner expire, it is unnecessarily broad in duration.

Although Halifax now wants to reconstruct the stated purpose to match the breadth of the exemption, the purpose absolutely cannot be construed as Halifax contends. And even if it were so construed, the statement of purpose itself would then be constitutionally infirm as lacking specificity and a justifying rationale.

The doctrine of judicial narrowing should not save an overly broad exemption. This would violate the express requirement that the legislature itself narrowly tailor the exemption in its inception, would frustrate the reform intended by the Sunshine Amendment, and would implicate serious doubts of institutional capacity to act. In any event, this exemption could not be judicially tailored because the Court cannot fashion from the act a substantive definition of what the legislature may have intended to treat as critical confidential information.

Because the case for a declaration as to the facial constitutional issue was properly tried to the court, the lower courts correctly reached and decided that issue. In any event, Halifax cannot show that on any ground the Final Judgment reached the wrong result.

3

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT SHOULD ADOPT A DOCTRINE OF STRICT ENFORCEMENT OF THE CONSTITUTIONAL STANDARD FOR VALIDITY OF EXEMPTIONS FROM THE PUBLIC RIGHT OF ACCESS.

In the Sunshine Amendment of 1992, the people reserved an express right of access to public records and meetings and granted the legislature a limited power to balance this right against competing public necessities. The issue is whether the legislature exceeded the limits of this power when it adopted the exemption in question. Under the textual standard in the amendment, the Court must determine whether the act states with specificity a public necessity justifying the exemption and tailors the exemption no broader than necessary to meet that necessity. FLA. CONST., art. I, § 24(c).

This pragmatic standard requires the legislature to practice deliberate constitutional balancing in the inception of exemptions. In this case of first impression, the Court should establish a doctrine of strict enforcement of the plain language of the textual standard.¹

4

¹Compare Winfield v. Division of Pari-Mutuel Wagering, 477 So. 2d 544, 547 (Fla. 1985) ("Since the privacy section as adopted contains no textual standard of review, it is important for us to identify an explicit standard to be applied in order to give proper force and effect to the amendment").

A. The express language of the Sunshine Amendment strictly limits the legislative power to create exemptions from the self-executing right of access.

The Sunshine Amendment reserves to the people of Florida an express and self-executing right of access to public records and meetings. The amendment declares that "[e]very person has the right to inspect or copy any public record [and] all meetings of any collegial public body . . . shall be open and noticed to the public." FLA. CONST., art. I, § 24(a) & (b). The purpose of the amendment is to strengthen and protect the traditional right of access by raising it to constitutional stature.²

The amendment contains no exemptions. Instead it grants the legislature a limited power to create exemptions in general laws pertaining solely to the right of access. This power is qualified by the provision "that such law shall state with specificity the public necessity which justifies the exemption and shall be no broader than necessary to accomplish the stated purpose of the law." FLA. CONST., art. I, § 24(c).

²For the history and purpose of the Sunshine Amendment, see the Brief Amicus Curiae of the First Amendment Foundation, The Florida Society of Newspaper Editors, *The Palm Beach Post*, *Florida TODAY*, *The Orlando Sentinel* and *The Sun-Sentinel* (hereafter cited as *First Amendment Foundation Br.*). *See also* 96-32, *Op Fla. Atty Gen.* (Sunshine Amendment elevated the traditional right of access to the constitution).

This uniquely modern constitutional text thus performs two functions. It creates a constitutional right, and it defines the standard by which the right may be balanced against public necessity. Unlike any other right enumerated in the constitution, this text confronts the pragmatic reality that no right is absolute and forthrightly addresses the means and manner by which it may be subordinated to competing governmental interests. *Compare Shaktman v. State*, 553 So. 2d 148, 151 (Fla. 1989) ("Like all of our other fundamental rights, the fundamental right of privacy is not absolute").

The limited power to balance the right against competing public necessity takes nothing from the stature of this enumerated right. On the contrary, the right places a strong constraint on the formerly unhindered legislative power to override the right of access for any reason. The amendment abolished that inherent power and meted back in its stead an enumerated power restricted by the proviso attached to the grant. By force of the Sunshine Amendment, therefore, the only power of the legislature to restrict public access to records and meetings of government is this limited power to balance competing public necessities against the constitutional right.³

³Florida's textural standard is unique. Although a few other states have constitutional provisions dealing with access to governmental records and meetings, most allow the legislature an unrestricted power to override. *E.g.* LA. CONST. art. XII, § 3 (meetings open "except in cases established by law"); N.H. CONST., part I, art. 8 (right to know "shall not be unreasonably restricted"); N.D.

B. The explicit limitations of legislative power must be enforced according to their terms.

The proviso uses strong words. To enact a valid exemption, the legislature shall state with specificity a public necessity justifying the exemption and shall tailor the exemption no broader than necessary to meet that necessity. These words are neither ambiguous nor deferential but clear, compelling, and constraining.

The Court should energetically enforce this strong standard because "each provision [of the constitution] must be given effect, according to its plain and ordinary meaning." *In re Advisory Opinion to the Governor*, 374 So. 2d 959, 964 (Fla. 1979). *Accord Crawford v. Gilchrist*, 59 So. 963, 968 (Fla. 1912) ("essential provisions of a Constitution are to be regarded as mandatory").

The Court's duty to enforce the standard derives from its fundamental duty to uphold the constitution. When the Court finds "that . . . an act violates expressly or clearly implied mandates of the Constitution, the act must fall, not merely because the courts so decree, but because of the dominant force of the Constitution, an authority superior to both the Legislature and the Judiciary." *Holley v. Adams*, 238 So. 2d 401, 405 (Fla. 1970). *Accord State v. Butler*, 69 So.

CONST., art. XI, § 5 & 6 (meetings and records open "[u]nless otherwise provided by law"). But see MONT. CONST., art II, § 9 (meetings and records open "except in cases in which the demand of individual privacy clearly exceeds the merits of public disclosure").

771, 776 (Fla. 1915) (Court must "'support, protect and defend the Constitution,' by giving effect to its provisions, even if in doing so [a] statute is held to be inoperative").

The forceful language of the constitution leaves no room to tolerate legislative acts that cannot withstand close scrutiny under the standard. The stringent language through which the people have expressed themselves "must be enforced as written." *Florida Soc'y of Ophthalmology v. Florida Optometric Ass'n*, 489 So. 2d 1118, 1119 (Fla. 1986). *Accord Florida League of Cities v. Smith*, 607 So. 2d 397, 400 (Fla. 1992) ("[w]hen constitutional language is precise, its exact letter must be enforced").

The Halifax argument that the Court should adopt a highly deferential standard based on the doctrine of separation of powers should be rejected. The Court must enforce constitutional limitations upon the powers of the other branches of the government. *Locke v. Hawkes*, 595 So. 2d 32, 36 (Fla. 1992) (Court does "not violate the separation of powers doctrine when [it] construe[s] a statute in a manner that adversely affects either the executive or the legislative branch"); *State v. Florida Police Benev. Ass'n, Inc.*, 580 So. 2d 619, 620 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991) ("No separation of powers concern precludes the judicial branch from addressing the constitutionality of the acts of the other branches").

Similarly, the Halifax argument that the power to create exemptions should be accorded "equal constitutional dignity" with the right of access because both are created in the same textual passage mistakes not only the essence but also the structure of the amendment. The amendment creates a self-executing right of access in absolute terms and then grants the legislature only a limited power to balance the right against competing public necessities. There is no equality between a basic constitutional right and the limited power of the state to balance the right against competing interests. The textual standard follows the structure of basic rights under American constitutional law.⁴

The power to create exemptions now deraigns exclusively from the express grant and is limited by the proviso attached directly to that grant. This proviso restrains the generality of the statement that the "legislature may provide by general law for the exemption [of records and meetings]." FLA. CONST., art. I,

9

⁴See Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957, 963 (Fla. 1992) quoting Bizzell v. State, 71 So. 2d 735, 737 (Fla. 1954) ("These rights [enumerated in the Declaration of Rights] curtail and restrain the power of the State.") See also Krischer v. McIver, 697 So. 2d 97, 112-13 (Fla. 1997) (Kogan, C.J., dissenting) (recounting historical development of the countermajoritarian structure of basic rights under American constitutional law; rights reserved in constitution are "put beyond the ordinary political process").

§ 24(c).⁵ By enforcing the proviso, the Court will preserve and protect the right of access and fulfill the intent of the people.

An amicus urges that acts creating exemptions be tested under the rational basis standard, but the text sets a much higher standard. Whereas the rational basis standard presumes the legislature has a valid objective, the textual standard requires the legislature to state a particular objective with specificity. Whereas the rational basis standard tolerates merely a reasonable relationship between the act and the objective, the textual standard requires narrow tailoring of the exemption to the stated necessity. *Compare Lane v. Chiles*, 698 So. 2d 260, 262 (Fla. 1997).

C. The structure and substance of the right is that of a fundamental right.

Although the textual standard of review is unique, the right enumerated in this new article of the Declaration of Rights must be respected as a fundamental right. The structure of the right makes this clear. The constitution reserves to the people a self-executing right against government, grants only a limited power

⁵See State ex rel. Florida Jai Alai, Inc. v. State Racing Commission, 112 So. 2d 825, 829 (Fla. 1959) citing Minis v. United States, 40 U.S. 423, 445 (1841) ("[T]he purpose of a proviso is to either except something from the enacting clause or to qualify or restrain its generality. . . . ").

⁶See North Broward at 9 (legislature need only have "a reasonable basis to believe that the exemption . . . would achieve a legitimate legislative purpose"). This brief does not argue or cite the textual standard of the constitution.

to the legislature to balance this right against competing public necessities, places the onus of justifying such abridgement directly upon the legislature, and requires that the abridgement be no broader than necessary to meet the competing necessity. This is the structure of a fundamental right.⁷

In essence as well as structure, moreover, the right of access is a fundamental right. It is expressly enumerated in the Declaration of Rights and therefore "stand[s] on equal footing with every other [enumerated right]". *Traylor* at 964.8 It protects Florida's longstanding devotion to open government and therefore, like the right of privacy, truly can be said to be "deeply rooted in our . . . political and philosophical heritage." *In re T.W.*, 551 So. 2d 1186, 1191 (Fla. 1989). It reserves to the people core political rights of republican self-

⁷See, e.g., Winfield at 547 (burden rests with state to justify infringement against fundamental right and to limit infringement to what is justified). Indeed, the right of access is given even higher protection than other fundamental rights because the constitution limits the power to infringe this right solely to the legislature and dictates the process by which such acts may be adopted. FLA. CONST., art. I, § 24(c) (exemptions may be created only by legislature in a general act pertaining only to subject of the right of access). Other constitutional rights, including the right of privacy, may be subordinated by local acts, riders attached to bills, administrative acts, or local government action. E.g. Winfield (subordinating constitutional right to administrative subpoena).

⁸Accord Monroe County v. Pigeon Key Historical Park, Inc., 647 So. 2d 857, 866 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994) (Cope, J., dissenting) ("[T]he voters of Florida elevated the right to open meetings to the status of one of our fundamental rights set forth in the Declaration of Rights of the Florida Constitution").

government and therefore is instrumental to protecting the people "from the unjust encroachment of state authority." *Traylor*.9

D. The standard of review is the *sui generis* textual standard.

The standard of review is neither rational basis nor strict scrutiny but rather the express standard written into the constitution. Because it is explicit, the standard is *sui generis*. The Court should enforce it according to its terms.

Halifax argues that the Court should apply a strong presumption of constitutionality to acts creating exemptions. However, the textual standard lays the burden of justifying an exemption upon the legislature, and the Court should leave the burden where the constitution has placed it.¹⁰

⁹Compare Plante v. Smathers, 372 So. 2d 933, 937 (Fla. 1979) (stringently enforcing Sunshine Amendment of 1976) ("Our form of government is based upon an enlightened choice by an informed electorate. . . "). The right of access is most fundamentally a "representation reinforcing right." See JOHN HART ELY, DEMOCRACY AND DISTRUST: A THEORY OF JUDICIAL REVIEW 87 (1980) and United States v. Carolene Products Co., 304 U.S. 144, 152-53 n. 4 (1938).

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